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                PROLOGUE

            

            
                JUNE 5, 1947.

                The bell tolled at 9:30 A.M. The midmorning sun made its arc in a clear
                        blue sky, a warm salutation to the crowd of seven thousand—mostly parents of
                        graduates, scholars and selected guests—as they filtered into the yard
                        between Widener Library and Memorial Church. The day marked Harvard
                        University’s 286th Commencement, and the first “fully normal” graduation
                        ceremony since the United States had entered World War II five and a half
                        years earlier.

                The war had claimed 300,000 American lives; it had cost $300
                        billion in treasure; and it had demanded immeasurable sacrifice. Now it was
                        over. The crimson robes, the Latin perorations, the diplomas, the handshakes
                        and the celebrations—all the customary features of that day were meant to
                        mark a return to normalcy.

                It was generally recognized that one man, more than any other,
                        had delivered America victory and had made the return to peace possible. As
                        the procession came into view, the crowd caught a glimpse of him. They
                        sprang to their feet and offered a rousing ovation. To many, it was odd to
                        see him without the military uniform in which they had come to know him. It
                        was the uniform he had worn as Army chief of staff in September 1939, the
                        month Germany invaded Poland; he wore it when he was recognized as Time magazine’s Man of the Year in
                        1943, lauded as the man who transformed the United States military into the
                        most dominant fighting force in the world; and the same one he wore when the
                        war had ended and Winston Churchill called him the “organizer of
                        victory.”

                Appointed secretary of state five months earlier, he was a
                        civilian now. The military uniform, if not the man, had been retired. In its
                        stead George Catlett Marshall wore a gray suit, a white shirt and a blue
                        necktie. Old habits remained, though. As he walked past the crowd, his head
                        moved sharply but rhythmically left to right, as if he were reviewing the
                        troops. The lean six-foot frame was familiar, as was the short white hair,
                        pressed back firmly and neatly; and the pale blue eyes still cut a piercing
                        gaze.

                The prolonged ovation ended only when Marshall and his fellow
                        honorees were seated under a canopy of maple, beech and hickory trees, on a
                        platform set up on the steps of Memorial Church. When it was his turn to
                        receive his degree, Marshall stood to another standing ovation. When the
                        crowd quieted, Harvard President James Conant read the citation in both
                        Latin and English. Conant said that Marshall was “an American to whom
                        Freedom owes an enduring debt of gratitude.” He was “a soldier and statesman
                        whose ability and character brook only one comparison in the history of the
                        nation.” The comparison was to George Washington.

                It was the sort of heady stuff in which many of Marshall’s
                        subordinates—MacArthur, Patton, even Eisenhower—reveled; but not Marshall.
                        During the war, he had refused the plentitude of awards offered him. It was
                        unfitting, he said, to accept decorations when American men and boys were
                        fighting and dying. It was dispositional as well. Marshall had always
                        shunned ceremony. He had twice turned down Harvard’s offer to receive the
                        honorary degree of doctor of laws.

                On this day, though, there was a purpose to Marshall’s
                        attendance. A week earlier he had written to Conant, finally accepting
                        Harvard’s offer. He would not promise a formal address, but he would be
                        pleased to make a few remarks—and perhaps “a little more,” he wrote. The
                        content of those remarks lined seven typed and crisply folded pieces of
                        paper in Marshall’s jacket pocket. No one had seen the final draft of the
                        speech that Marshall had come to deliver, save the general himself; not even
                        the commander in chief, President Harry S. Truman. On that early June
                        morning, no one in attendance knew it, but Marshall had come to give an
                        address that would transform Europe, dramatically reconfigure the
                        international political landscape, and launch America forward as a modern
                        superpower with global responsibilities.

                The speech was delivered not on the steps of Memorial Church,
                        as most historical depictions suggest, but later that day, at 2 P.M. in Harvard Yard at a
                        subsequent luncheon given for alumni, parents of alumni and select
                        guests.

                During the war, Marshall had held regular weekly press
                        conferences in his office. He would go around the room, fielding questions
                        from dozens of hardened, cigar-chomping reporters. His command of grand
                        strategy and minute detail was dazzling, and the press conferences helped to
                        fuel his legend. As it was, he much preferred to speak extemporaneously. But
                        those wartime conferences were meant to provide reporters with background,
                        and were strictly off-the-record affairs. When Marshall became secretary of
                        state, however, remarks were on the record, meaning that the smallest
                        utterance would constitute a policy pronouncement. Marshall spoke in a low
                        and monotonal voice, and so read speeches poorly. Thus when Dean Acheson,
                        Marshall’s undersecretary, recommended that as secretary of state Marshall
                        should deliver policy addresses strictly from texts, he found Marshall as
                        “disappointed as a small boy,” but duly in agreement.

                And so it came to be that as Marshall began to speak on that
                        early June afternoon in Cambridge, Massachusetts, he was said not to have
                        looked up from his text once. With J. Robert Oppenheimer and T. S. Eliot
                        both in tow as fellow honorees, Marshall adumbrated for his audience
                        Europe’s dire economic condition, its postwar dystopia—a new wasteland,
                        dysfunctional and intensely vulnerable. The period of drift would have to
                        end, Marshall explained, and the time for action had come. And then, it was
                        all there, in only a few simple paragraphs. Not the details, as many would
                        later point out—errantly suggesting that it was not even “a Plan” at all—but
                        the elements and the contours of the Plan that would come almost immediately
                        to bear his name.

                He spoke in a soft, almost inaudible voice, “as though,” it
                        was written, “he did not care especially if they were listening.” Future
                        dignitaries in attendance that day—industrialists, acclaimed scholars,
                        Conant himself, even future Marshall Planners—would concede that they did
                        not comprehend the meaning or the historical salience of the Plan then
                        unfurled. They were not alone. American networks did not broadcast it, and
                        the American news agencies “dismissed it with a few lines.” The New York Times and most other
                        national papers led with other stories the next day. Even the British
                        Embassy in Washington “did not consider it worth the cable charges to
                        transmit to London.”

                But to British Foreign Secretary Ernest Bevin, the man on the
                        other side of the Atlantic on whom its fate would most depend, perched up in
                        his bed, listening to a broadcast of the speech on the BBC: “It was like a
                        lifeline to sinking men. It seemed to bring hope where there was none. The
                        generosity of it was beyond my belief.” For the British foreign secretary,
                        its significance, its need and its transformational potential were
                        unmistakable. To Bevin—who, as a wartime Cabinet member with Churchill had
                        heard his share of exalted orations—it was “one of the greatest speeches
                        made in world history.”

                In the years to follow what Senator Arthur Vandenberg called
                        the “electric effect of a few sentences in quiet sequence,” “history wrote
                        with a rushing pen.” And the story it told was of the Marshall
                    Plan.

                 

                HISTORIAN AND
                                EYEWITNESS Thomas Bailey described the Marshall Plan
                        as “the greatest act of statesmanship in the nation’s history.” Cold War
                        historian Melvyn Leffler determined that it was “probably the most effective
                        program the United States launched during the entire Cold War.” Journalist
                        Arthur Krock wrote that “it was one of the great achievements of the
                        century, as nearly everyone eventually saw.” Combined, the encomiums seem
                        almost to elevate reality into myth, offering perhaps well-deserved paeans,
                        but quite possibly occluding the Plan’s inherent nuance and granularity,
                        robbing it of its historic depth and true meaning.

                It has been twenty years since the last comprehensive history
                        of the Marshall Plan was written. Since then a Cold War has ended and troves
                        of archival material have been made available from the Soviet Union and
                        elsewhere, and much new scholarship has followed. Winston Churchill, who
                        delighted in writing history as well as making it—especially when it was
                        about himself—once wrote: “When the perspective of time has lengthened, all
                        stands in a different setting.” History’s tides suggest this a fitting time
                        to take another look.

                The story of the Marshall Plan—and any of the Plan’s
                        success—belongs just as much to Europe as it does to the United States.
                        Rather than a unilateral enterprise, or an initiative imposed upon one side
                        or the other, the Marshall Plan is best viewed as a partnership in which the
                        United States and Europe played co-leads. However, the main focus here is
                        the story from the American side. Therein, a series of remarkable statesmen
                        emerge. They are men like Harry S. Truman, Dean Acheson, Robert Lovett,
                        George Kennan, Lucius Clay and David Bruce. However, as the story unfolds,
                        six U.S. statesmen, more than the others, emerge as indispensable to the
                        genesis, the execution and the ultimate success of the Marshall Plan. They
                        are George Marshall, Will Clayton, Arthur Vandenberg, Richard Bissell, Paul
                        Hoffman, and W. Averell Harriman. The story of the Marshall Plan is in large
                        part their shared story.

                 

                FROM
                            JUNE 1947 to its termination
                        at the end of 1951, the Marshall Plan provided approximately $13 billion to
                        finance the recovery and rehabilitation of war-torn and postwar weary
                        Western Europe. In today’s dollars that sum equals roughly $100 billion, and
                        as a comparable share of U.S. Gross National Product it would be in excess
                        of $500 billion. It was a mammoth sum, more than the United States spent to
                        govern itself in the first fifteen years of the twentieth century. More than
                        the provision of dollars and aid, the Marshall Plan was the cornerstone of
                        American foreign policy for much of those formative and consequential
                        postwar years. It was a monumental undertaking and—echoing Walt Whitman’s
                        famous lines—it contained multitudes and contradictions.

                An act of unprecedented beneficence, the Marshall Plan was an
                        unabashedly strategic enterprise framed in the shifting and perilous
                        geopolitical context of its time. Offered in humility as a hand in
                        partnership, it sought nothing less than to refashion Europe in fundamental
                        and audacious ways. Aiming at transparency and astoundingly free of
                        corruption and scandal, its dollars financed—unbeknownst even to
                        Cabinet-level officials—some of the first covert operations in CIA history.
                        It employed U.S. capital and a free-market ideology to prop up socialist
                        regimes, in the name of saving them from Communism. Proposed as an
                        altruistic program to save the world from “hunger, poverty and chaos,” it
                        helped to trigger the Cold War.

                Its apparent contradictions and the enormity of its scope and
                        ambition notwithstanding—in fact, in large part because of these things—the
                        Marshall Plan would become one of the most successful foreign policy
                        enterprises in the annals of U.S. history. In the post–Cold War, post-9/11
                        world, America has not yet responded to the challenges and opportunities of
                        the present age with programs or efforts of comparable depth or imagination.
                        It is my conviction that the story told here contains insights that speak to
                        the current American moment with resonance and urgency; it is my hope that
                        it might help to illuminate a brighter path forward.

                 

                WHEN
                            GEORGE MARSHALL was a boy, the United
                        States of America was little more than a hundred years old. It was a nation
                        so young that U.S. history was not commonly taught in school. In the course
                        of Marshall’s lifetime, the Plan that was to bear his name would launch
                        America forward into a world fraught with perils, uncertainties and
                        anxieties in a degree of engagement once thought unimaginable. Perhaps Dean
                        Acheson put it best. For him, the Marshall Plan was “one of the greatest and
                        most honorable adventures in history.”

                And it began with a trip to Moscow.

            

        

    


Part One

THE GENESIS










Chapter One

THE MARCH TO MOSCOW




ON MARCH 5, 1947, GEORGE CATLETT MARSHALL boarded an airplane along with a coterie of aides and bureaucrats. His destination was Moscow and the latest in a series of postwar meetings with the foreign ministers of Britain, France and the Soviet Union. Summoned from retirement by his commander in chief, Harry S. Truman, for the second, though not the last, time, Marshall had been appointed secretary of state six weeks earlier. To prepare for the upcoming conference, he spent most of his first weeks in intensive briefings getting up to speed on the latest developments in Europe, the manifold intricacies involved in the various peace treaties pending and relations with the Soviet Union. The briefings suggested that the task ahead would be daunting. In a meeting shortly before leaving for Moscow, Senator Arthur Vandenberg said to Marshall: “You are going to have one difficult time!” “I anticipate that,” Marshall responded.

Away for 350 out of the 562 days of his tenure, Marshall’s predecessor, James Byrnes, was said to have run the State Department out of his briefcase. A former senator and political “fixer,” Byrnes, a magazine article quipped, was rumored to have laid out three hats in the morning so that he could compromise on the one in the middle. To Dean Acheson, who was asked to stay on as Marshall’s undersecretary, the new appointment seemed “an act of God.” In the short six weeks since Marshall had become secretary, he had already brought a new sense of order and purpose to the State Department. It would take time, though, before he would feel completely comfortable in his new civilian role. His military service had spanned forty-five years, and he was known the world over simply as “General.” Subordinates noticed that when he was called “Mr. Secretary,” Marshall would sometimes turn around, looking for someone else.

 

GEORGE CATLETT MARSHALL was born in Uniontown, Pennsylvania, on December 31, 1880. But he was anchored in the deep and rich Virginian tradition of his family’s past. His ancestors included Thomas Marshall, who had fought alongside George Washington in the French and Indian War. He was of the Randolph family, celebrated Virginia aristocracy. Most notably, he was a collateral descendant of John Marshall, the former secretary of state and Supreme Court Chief Justice. Marshall’s immediate ancestors were a less exalted lot. His father was a failed businessman and favored George’s older brother, who bullied the younger Marshall. Bouts of illness and a slow start in his education rounded out a very difficult boyhood. By the time Marshall made it to the Virginia Military Institute, or VMI, a fire had begun to burn and a mission had come into focus: “I thought the continuing harping on the name John Marshall was kind of poor business,” he later said. “It was about time for somebody else to swim for the family.”

When he entered VMI, fresh from a bout with typhoid fever, Marshall was “skinny, sweaty and nervous.” Even more than the other first year cadets, or “rats” as they were called, Marshall emerged a prime target for hazing. In his freshman year, upperclassmen stuck an unsheathed bayonet in wooden planks in the floor, tip up. They had Marshall squat over the weapon. He held his lanky frame above the tip, praying that they would relent. They did not, and after twenty minutes he fainted and lost consciousness. Marshall woke up with a deep gash in his buttocks. Had the angle of his fall been an inch or two in another direction, he would have died. He did not tell on the offenders. “Awed by his courage,” the cadets did not bother him again.

At VMI, Marshall began to evince the talents and traits that would mark his later ascent. He had a mind of logical rigor and precision. VMI inculcated, above all, discipline and austerity. Marshall had an unusual capacity for both. His surroundings prized the Virginian code of chivalry, espousing a sense of service, gentlemanly conduct and a dignified bearing. Adhering to that code, and in part a product of the insecurity born of his youth, Marshall kept his distance from others. All of these elements converged to foment in Marshall an extraordinary self-command, the hallmark trait that would come to define his unusual brand of charisma.

In 1914, stationed in the Philippines, Marshall, then a thirty-four-year-old captain, caught the eye of his commanding officer, General Franklin Bell, who one day called twenty-six officers to lunch at his quarters and told them, “Keep your eyes on George Marshall. He is the greatest military genius of America since Stonewall Jackson.” Promoted to colonel during World War I, Marshall was charged with taking a leading role in planning some of the largest and most successful U.S. operations of the war. General John J. “Black Jack” Pershing, commander in chief of the American Expeditionary Force, summarily scooped Marshall up as his aide. Pershing became in many ways a father figure to Marshall, protecting, mentoring and championing his military career.

At the end of World War I, Pershing recommended Marshall for promotion to brigadier general. Peacetime had returned, though, and Congress froze all military promotions, halting Marshall’s rise and consigning him to a series of disappointing postings for the twenty years to follow. The years weathered Marshall. He lost his first wife, Lily, who was sickly, and to whom he was devoted, and married a former actress named Katherine Tupper (Pershing stood in as Marshall’s best man). He grappled in bureaucratic rivalries with, among others, Douglas MacArthur. It appeared, in 1939, that at fifty-nine, George Marshall, then only a one-star general, would never have his chance. Then something happened that was without precedent in Army history. Heeding Pershing’s recommendation, President Franklin Roosevelt reached past twenty major generals and fourteen senior brigadier generals and chose Brigadier General George Marshall as the Chief of Staff of the United States Army.

The timing was propitious. Eight hours before Marshall was to be sworn in, on September 1, 1939, he was woken at 3 A.M. to receive the news of Nazi Germany’s invasion of Poland. Marshall had inherited the reins of an army with fewer than 200,000 men, ranked nineteenth in the world, behind Portugal and Bulgaria. Officers still practiced maneuvers on horseback, and soldiers were so underequipped that they often used cardboard cutouts of rifles for drills.

He told Roosevelt that he would accept the post on the condition that he would have the right to say, at all times, what he thought. When Roosevelt answered with a quick yes, Marshall replied, “You said yes pleasantly, but it may be unpleasant.” Marshall did not visit Roosevelt’s estate, Hyde Park. He made a point not to laugh at his jokes. When, on one occasion, Roosevelt called him George, Marshall said that he was George only to his wife. He insisted the president call him General Marshall. Roosevelt was famed for his charm and powers of manipulation. Marshall felt it essential for the prosecution of the task ahead that he maintain his full independence. He knew that he would have to stand apart.

 

AS WAR BROKE OUT, and the United States entered the conflict in December 1941, Marshall worked seven days a week. In his office chair by 7:30 every morning, wrote one of his biographers, he “worked there with a ruthless efficiency that terrified his subordinates, who were expected to enter on schedule, sit down without speaking or saluting, give him a clear presentation” and duly exit. During the darkest days of the war, in 1942, Marshall seemed to become calmer. He recalled that when Pershing appeared tired or forlorn, officers took it as a sign that things were going badly, and that it damaged morale. He would not allow himself to lose his temper or show signs of frustration. “I cannot afford the luxury of sentiment, mine must be a cold logic,” he said. During those years, “it was [as] though he lived outside of himself and George Marshall was someone he was constantly appraising, advising and training to meet a situation,” his wife Katherine wrote later.

Behind the iron discipline and rigor, there was an even and gracious manner, an unflagging sense of justice and a discernible humanity. He wrote thousands of personal letters to grieving widows and families of fallen soldiers. He seemed free of self-concern or vanity. On one occasion he sat for hours for a portrait. When the artist asked if he would like to see the finished painting, he said that it would not be necessary and went back to work. He was capable, at rare moments, of humor. On another occasion General Walter Bedell Smith reported to Marshall on his farm in Leesburg, Virginia, on a rainy day while Marshall was doing chores. Smith asked if it was necessary that he stand there and report in the rain. No, Marshall said, you can grab that bucket and report sitting down.

As head of the U.S. military, Marshall’s responsibilities and burdens were Olympian. As the war’s tide turned in 1943, and the Allies met in Tehran around Thanksgiving Day of that year, they agreed on opening the long-anticipated second front with an invasion of Nazi-occupied France. They would have to decide on a general to lead the invasion, what many considered “the most important battlefield assignment in the history of warfare.” Roosevelt wanted Marshall for the command. Discussing it with Dwight Eisenhower in a military plane, flying over a battlefield in Tunisia, the president said, “Ike, you and I know who was chief of staff during the last years of the Civil War, but practically no one else knows.” People remember only the field generals, Roosevelt said, and “I hate to think that fifty years from now practically nobody will know who George Marshall was. That is why I want George to have the big command. He is entitled to establish his place in history as a great general.” Eisenhower did not disagree.

To make the decision easier for himself, FDR tried to get Marshall to state a preference. Marshall refused. He would serve in whatever position the president asked. By the end of the Cairo Conference, Roosevelt had decided that Eisenhower would get the command. Unlike Eisenhower, Marshall had a commanding vision of each theater of war. He was masterful with Congress, and Eisenhower had less experience. In addition, the notion of Eisenhower serving as chief of staff and commanding Marshall was, as Eisenhower’s biographer wrote, “an absurd situation.” So, as the Allied troops stormed the beaches of Normandy, in the battle most remembered from World War II, it was Dwight Eisenhower who had field command on D-Day. “I feel I could not sleep at night with you out of the country,” Roosevelt told Marshall, who never complained or expressed regret.

As 1944 came to a close, victory on the European front appeared within reach. The year before, Time magazine had recognized George Marshall as Man of the Year. His record included Pearl Harbor and the decision to drop atomic bombs on Hiroshima and Nagasaki, for which he was a key voice of support. There were military retreats and delays, and notable and debilitating flare-ups with George Patton and Douglas MacArthur, and no shortage of strife with the Allies. But in the end the Allies were victorious.

On V-E Day, May 8, 1945, the day that Hitler’s forces surrendered, Secretary of War Henry Stimson summoned about a dozen generals and other senior officers into his office, half on each side of Marshall, who stood at the center of the semicircle facing Stimson, seated at his desk. Stimson proceeded to speak to Marshall: “I have never seen a task of such magnitude performed by man. It is rare in life to make new friends; at my age it is a slow process but there is no one for whom I have such deep respect and I think greater affection. I have seen a great many soldiers in my lifetime and you, sir, are the finest soldier I have ever known.” There were tears in the eyes of several of the generals.

Four months later, with Japan’s surrender in tow, Stimson wrote a letter to President Truman, who had assumed office in April 1945, aiming to sum up Marshall’s contribution: “His mind has guided the grand strategy of our campaigns…It was his mind and character that carried through the trans-Channel campaign against Germany…Similarly his views have controlled the Pacific campaign although he has been most modest, and careful in recognizing the role of the Navy. His views guided Mr. Roosevelt throughout. The construction of the American Army has been entirely the fruit of his initiative and supervision. Likewise its training…With this Army we have won a most difficult dual war with practically no serious setbacks and astonishingly ‘according to plans.’…Show me any war in history which has produced a general with such a surprisingly perfect record as his in this greatest and most difficult of all wars in history.”

As his commanding generals returned, Marshall ensured that each received victory parades. There was none for Marshall, though. The only reward he sought was a peaceful retirement to Dodona Manor, the estate in Leesburg that he and his wife, Katherine, had dreamed of retiring to for years. Having done his duty, he wished to return home to enjoy his remaining days, as a private citizen.

It was not to be. The day after he returned to Dodona Manor, the telephone rang. It was Truman. The president asked Marshall if he would go to mediate the civil war in China. Most considered it an impossible mission. Marshall’s friends and admirers resented Truman for enlisting Marshall. After listening to the president’s request, Marshall said, “Yes, Mr. President,” and hung up the phone. Marshall hoped for an expeditious return to Leesburg. When Secretary of State Byrnes tendered his resignation in April 1946, Truman passed along a note through Eisenhower intimating that he would like Marshall to run the State Department. Marshall responded: “I think I fully understand the question to be discussed. My answer is affirmative if that continues to be his desire. My personal reaction is something else.”

As the general and Katherine pulled into Washington on a gray and cold January morning in 1947, the nation’s collective spirit seemed to lift. “Your appointment as Secretary of State has filled me with a great sense of security as far as our country is concerned,” wrote Stimson, who “might have been speaking for the whole nation,” according to Truman biographer David McCullough. Truman’s poll numbers went up immediately. In the days to follow, Truman remarked, “The more I see and talk to him the more certain I am he’s the great one of the age.”

Not everyone looked upon Marshall’s arrival in Washington with unalloyed enthusiasm. Republicans with designs on the White House were anxious about Marshall’s national standing. Upon returning to Washington, Marshall quelled the rumors about his presidential ambitions immediately: “I will never become involved in political matters,” he said, “and therefore I cannot be considered a candidate for any political office.” The pronouncement was explicit, “and being Marshall he was taken at his word.” Republicans could breathe a sigh of relief. On Capitol Hill, McCullough noted, Senator Vandenberg “pushed the nomination through the Senate Foreign Relations Committee without a hearing or opposition, and ran it through the Senate for unanimous approval the same day.”

By January 1947, when George Marshall was sworn in as secretary of state, it had become clear that the objective for which he had helped lead America in World War II remained unrealized. To be sure, Hitler was defeated, and Germany was occupied and prostrate. But to Europe’s east, a new totalitarian power had emerged. In the interstices between the war’s end and Marshall’s appointment, the Soviet Union had transformed, in the view of most in Washington, from a vaunted wartime ally to a threatening power with the potential to imperil the larger strategic objective for which Marshall and the United States had fought and sacrificed: preventing a totalitarian power from controlling the Eurasian landmass.

 

SPEAKING TO THE Maryland Historical Society in November 1945, three months after the war had ended, then Assistant Secretary of State Dean Acheson told his audience: “I can state in three sentences what the ‘popular’ attitude is toward foreign policy today: 1. Bring the boys home; 2. Don’t be a Santa Claus; 3. Don’t be pushed around.” The last seemed a distant number three. Only a few weeks earlier, late in October 1945, a poll showed that Americans rated domestic concerns such as jobs and labor strife far ahead of foreign affairs. Only 7 percent rated world peace as the number one problem facing the country. Americans had fought, toiled and sacrificed. There was little popular appetite for new foreign burdens or further commitments. Ambassador to the Soviet Union Averell Harriman told his colleagues that Americans just wanted to “go to the movies and drink Coke.”

The war had created seismic disruptions, though, redistributing power and reshaping the topography of the international political landscape. The United States had entered the war with a meek military and on the back end of the Depression. It was to emerge as the most powerful country in the world. U.S. gross national product had more than doubled during the span of the war. By 1945, the United States accounted for one-half of the world’s economic production, two-thirds of the world’s gold reserves and three-fourths of its invested capital. At the Tehran conference in 1943, even Stalin offered a toast “to American production, without which this war would have been lost.” The U.S. Navy and air forces were both larger than the combined navies and air forces of the rest of the world. That, together with its monopoly on the atomic bomb, made the United States the world’s dominant military power.

When, in 1944, the American political scientist William T. R. Fox coined the term superpower, he included the United States, Great Britain and the Soviet Union in that category. Great Britain still had great military capacity and territorial breadth, but it had lost one-quarter of its national wealth by the time the war ended. The U.S. economy was five times larger than Great Britain’s. The other traditional European powers were even more eviscerated. That left the Soviet Union. The Soviets had contributed, more than any other power, to victory. Although only one-third the size of the U.S. economy, the Soviet economy was still the world’s second largest. During the 1930s and then in the war, it had grown key industries at prolific rates, but more importantly, the Soviet Union had the world’s greatest—and most daunting—land forces. They had stopped the Nazis and rolled them back to Germany, and by war’s end had occupied half of Europe. Two years after the war, Dean Acheson said, “Not since Rome and Carthage had there been such a polarization of power on this earth.”

The postwar redistribution of economic and military power suggested an emergent geopolitical rivalry. To that the United States and the Soviet Union could add the “mutually hostile ideological visions” of capitalism and communism. But it would be individual actors who would give expression and shape to the international order. And none was more important than Josef Vissarionovich Dzhugashvili.

 

DZHUGASHVILI WAS BORN IN GORI, Georgia, a country bordering Russia to the southwest, on December 6, 1878. His father was a cobbler who expected his son to assume that vocation. His mother doted on him, and wanted him to be a priest. He attended Gori spiritual school and then had a spell at a nearby Orthodox seminary. Thoughtful and evincing signs of sensitivity, even sentimentality—he was wont to write poetry—he was also profoundly insecure and given to violence. After joining the Bolshevik movement, his ascent up the party ladder was rapid. He married and loved his wife, Ketevan. After two years, she fell ill and died, leaving him desolate and bitter. Vladimir Lenin noticed him early on and championed his rise. A competent writer, he was appointed founder and editor, in April 1912, of the new Bolshevik daily Pravda (“The Truth”). Around this time, he assumed a pseudonym derived from the Russian word for steel, stal: Josef Stalin.

Shortly after Lenin’s death in 1924, Stalin, then forty-five years old, assumed national leadership. He had a tremendous capacity for work, a genius for organization and a cunning that no Soviet official could match. Hardened by the violence of his youth, the violence that he had seen in the Bolshevik movement and the violence that seemed endemic to the great European empires of his day, he had a felicity for detachment from sentiment for human life.

The 1930s were a time of remarkable growth and transformation for the Soviet Union. The economy was planned to precision, industry flourished and much of the citizenry benefited. By 1939, it was said, 87 percent of Soviet citizens between the ages of nine and forty-nine were literate and numerate. Historian Robert Service wrote: “Schools, newspapers, libraries and radio stations proliferated. Factory apprenticeships had hugely expanded in number. The universities teemed with students.” To reap this sort of transformation, though, Stalin employed a scale of ruthlessness unseen in human history. He uprooted families and entire communities, sending dissenters or undesirables by the tens of millions to the gulags. Historians both in Russia and the West now agree that the number of deaths caused by Stalin’s policies before World War II numbered between 17 and 22 million. By the end of the 1930s, the Soviet Union was well on its way to modernization, but “industrialization and collectivization had thrown society into the maelstrom of hunger, migration and the Gulag.” It was a relatively small price to pay to sate Stalin’s rapacious desire for political control. By the end of the 1930s, Stalin had ascended to absolute power in the Soviet Union, and he directed Soviet policy thereafter with an untrammeled hand.

Having achieved that position against the backdrop of a developing, though emasculated and vulnerable, state, it was Stalin’s paramount concern to avoid or at least delay as long as possible war with Nazi Germany. When Stalin signed a Non-Aggression Pact with Hitler in 1939, throwing his lot in with the Germans, it seemed to confirm the suspicions then widely shared among American foreign policy officials that Stalin was a perfidious menace. When Hitler violated the pact and invaded the Soviet Union, on June 22, 1941, Stalin was said to have been so depressed that he fled to his country home and was dysfunctional for days. Overnight the Nazi invasion threw the Soviet Union’s fortune in with the Allies, who would soon include the United States. Now joined in a war that had to be won, the unnatural allies offered expressions of goodwill. The ruthless dictator enjoyed an overnight makeover, becoming “Uncle Joe.” Stalin was named Time magazine’s Man of the Year in 1942.

As the Soviets recovered from the shell shock of the Nazi invasion, its leaders adopted the slogan, “Everything for the Front!” The years to follow were among the most trying that any country has had to endure. When war broke out on the eastern front, U.S. Navy commander Admiral Ernest J. King pronounced: “Russia will do nine-tenths of the job of defeating Hitler.” For much of World War II, 80 percent of the Nazi forces were engaged by Soviet forces. The United States lost 300,000 soldiers in World War II. In contrast, approximately 27 million Soviets (soldiers and civilians) died as a direct result of the war. As Churchill and the Allies temporized, refusing to invade Western Europe and create another front to relieve some of the pressure on the Soviet Union, it was said that the United States and Britain were willing to fight to the last Soviet death.

The war left Soviet territory scorched. Historian David Fromkin wrote that Nazi invaders destroyed more than 1,700 cities and towns and more than 70,000 villages and hamlets. They demolished more than 6 million buildings and more than 31,000 industrial enterprises. They dismantled 40,000 miles of railroad tracks, blew up 56,000 miles of main road and ruined 90,000 bridges. They stole and slaughtered 17 million head of cattle, 20 million hogs, 27 million sheep and goats, 110 million poultry and 7 million horses. Against the backdrop of the Soviet Union’s monumental sacrifices for Allied victory, Stalin’s persona emerged from the crucible of wartime partnership much enhanced in the United States, or “purified,” as one leading Cold War historian put it.

Behind the well-tended façade of goodwill and bonhomie, though, by early 1945, as the U.S. and Soviet militaries rushed to meet in the middle of Europe and bring the war to an end, key officials in the United States were already expressing deep concerns about the prospects for postwar cooperation. In the Moscow embassy, senior Foreign Service officer George Kennan admonished anyone who would listen that the Soviets would be an expansionist power, and that they would have to be resisted through counterpressure. Heeding Kennan’s counsel and horrified at Stalin’s vicious conduct in Eastern Europe—especially his refusal to support a popular anti-Nazi uprising in Warsaw—Ambassador Averell Harriman began warning the White House that Stalin was not to be trusted and that the Soviet Union might have expansionist designs.

Roosevelt held fast to his vision of postwar collaboration and cooperation. But as the Soviets marched west, they showed little regard for the sanctity of life, the rule of law or the democratic values Roosevelt envisioned shaping the new world order. On March 24, 1945, before leaving for Warm Springs, Georgia, Roosevelt read one of Harriman’s cables and pounded his fist on the arms of his wheelchair: “Averell is right; we can’t do business with Stalin,” he said. “He has broken every one of his promises he made at Yalta,” an earlier wartime conference.

Weeks later, on April 13, 1945, Franklin Delano Roosevelt died, and was succeeded by Harry S. Truman. Truman was a failed farmer and haberdasher from Independence, Missouri. He had taken a few courses at a community college but had never completed his degree. A respected war hero later in life, Truman was selected by Tom Pendergast, boss of the Kansas City political machine, to run for local office, then for the Senate in 1935, becoming junior senator from Missouri at age fifty. Later selected as a compromise candidate to run on the ticket with Roosevelt, Truman had been vice president for eighty-three days when the president died. He had met with Roosevelt only twice, and on neither occasion discussed anything of importance. FDR did not hold Truman in particularly high regard, and did not bring him into his decision-making circle. Truman did not know about the substance of negotiations with the great powers. He did not know about the atomic bomb then in the final stages of development. Weeks after his inauguration, he said of his new office, “It is a terrible responsibility, and I am the last man fitted to handle it.”

The new president and the seasoned dictator were to meet for the first and last time at Cecilienhof, a country estate set in a large park in the eastern German town of Potsdam, from July 17 to August 2, 1945. Potsdam was the last of the wartime conferences among the Allies. For those two weeks, Cecilienhof was home to more posturing and gamesmanship than substantive agreement. The Soviets would not sign on to democratic elections in the Eastern European countries they had helped to liberate. They even spoke about extending their reach to the Dardanelles and to Libya. For their part, the Soviets were confounded by the United States’ unwillingness to meet their request for war reparations. Given their wartime sacrifices, the Soviets “could not understand why ‘the Wall Street bankers’ had to be paid first.” The leaders departed Potsdam with the critical issues of reparations, Poland’s borders, the political status of Eastern European countries and, all importantly, Germany’s future still unresolved.

Nevertheless, the American delegation was hopeful. Truman wrote home to his wife, Bess: “I like Stalin. He is straightforward.” There was nothing on record to suggest that Stalin had comparable regard for Truman. The inventory of goodwill depleted quickly. The Soviet Union continued to press its influence in Eastern Europe, and Soviet rhetoric became increasingly truculent. On a frigid winter’s evening, February 9, 1946, at the fabled Bolshoi Theater, Stalin delivered a speech in which he announced a new five-year plan for the Soviet economy. He laced the oration with anticapitalist rhetoric. Analysts would later agree that it was primarily meant for domestic consumption, but many U.S. policymakers were staggered. Supreme Court Justice William O. Douglas pronounced the speech “World War III.”

Around this time an editorial in the New York Times asked the question on everyone’s mind: “What does Russia want?” Experts at State and the military chiefs alike were alarmed at the Soviet Union’s expansionary moves, but also noted more auspicious signs elsewhere: free elections were held in Hungary; Soviet troops were withdrawn from Czechoslovakia; and a representative government was installed in Austria. Still the Times editorial listed the places “annexed” since the end of the war, territory that stretched from Eastern Europe to Manchuria and totaled 273,947 square miles. “Where does the search for security end, and where does expansion begin?” the editorial asked, digging to the core of the matter.

Also in the winter of 1946, the Soviet Union declared that it would not be joining the Bretton Woods agreements, the new set of rules and institutions, named after the town in New Hampshire in which they were negotiated, that were designed to serve as the bedrock of the new international economic order. Bretton Woods was constructed to be open, collaborative and beneficial to all of its members. The United States and its chief partners had taken particular pains to meet the Soviets’ demands. When the Soviets pulled out of Bretton Woods, many U.S. policymakers were baffled, none more than those at the Treasury Department. Treasury asked the State Department for an assessment. In mid-February 1946, State sent that query to the Moscow embassy.

For eighteen months, George Kennan, chargé d’affaires at the embassy, “had done little else but pluck people’s sleeves, trying to make them understand the nature” of the Soviet threat. Leaving for a trip abroad, Ambassador Averell Harriman told Kennan that he was now in charge and could send all the telegrams he liked. Consigned to bed rest with a cold, fever, sinus, and tooth trouble, Kennan received the State Department’s query: “They had asked for it. Now, by God, they would have it.” What followed was an eight-thousand-word exposition that Kennan dictated to his secretary from his bedside. Telegraphed to Washington in five parts, Kennan expounded on the nature of the peril at hand. Communism was only a fig leaf, Kennan explained, to mask the real mainspring of Soviet intransigence: a profound and deeply rooted national insecurity. The Soviets responded only to the logic of force. Expressions of goodwill and essays at cooperation were futile, Kennan argued. The United States would have to stand up to the Soviets.

Kennan’s cable reached D.C. on George Washington’s birthday. Dubbed the Long Telegram, it was widely read and celebrated. Policymakers were starving for an explanation and an accompanying road map for future policy. Kennan’s Long Telegram provided both. The tide was turning. That February, Truman was fielding admonitions about the Soviet Union from all quarters. That same month he received a note: “I think it is now time for [the president] to get tough with someone.” It was from his mother.

In March 1946, Winston Churchill arrived in the dry town of Fulton, Missouri, and told the crowd at Westminster College that “from Stettin in the Baltic to Trieste in the Adriatic, an iron curtain has descended across the continent.” If the West did not meet the Soviet threat with force, that iron curtain—it was a phrase he first used in a telegram to Truman in May 1945—would keep moving west. The Soviet Union refused to keep an agreement to pull out of northern Iran in mid-March 1946. When the Soviets probed again that August in Turkey, asserting their right to joint control of the Dardanelle Straits, experts and leading advisers stood behind Truman, who insisted the Soviets desist. “We might as well find out whether the Russians were bent on world conquest now, as in five or ten years,” the president said, before sending a battleship. The show of force and diplomacy repelled the probe.

On March 20, in another telegram to Washington, Kennan expounded further: “Nothing short of complete disarmament, delivery of our air and naval forces to Russia and resigning of powers of government to American Communists” would mitigate Stalin’s insecurity. But even then, Kennan continued, Stalin would probably “smell a trap and would continue to harbor the most baleful misgivings.” Most tellingly of all, in June 1946 in Moscow CBS correspondent Richard C. Hottelet interviewed the urbane Soviet diplomat Maxim Litvinov. Hottelet asked what would happen if the West were to suddenly grant the Kremlin all the demands necessary to meet its security needs. Litvinov replied: “It would lead to the West’s being faced, after a more or less short time, with the next series of demands.”

Late that September, Truman’s special counsel, Clark Clifford, handed the President a top-secret, hardbound document entitled, “American Relations with the Soviet Union,” better known as the Clifford-Elsey Report. For months, amidst an oppressively hot Washington summer, George Elsey, another senior Truman aide, had been canvassing the administration’s top-level military and diplomatic officials on their views of the Soviet Union and its intentions. The report portrayed agreement among America’s senior-most officials: the Soviet Union was expansionist. If necessary, America must be prepared to act militarily to “restrain” the Soviet threat. Truman read the report that night with alarm, and phoned Clifford at seven o’clock the next morning. He ordered Clifford to deliver all the existing copies to his office immediately. If it was made public, the report would ruin any remaining chances for U.S.–Soviet accommodation, he explained.

Truman could make the report disappear. But he could not undo or reverse the emerging consensus among American officials. The Iranian and Turkish crises of 1946 seemed to confirm it: whether driven by ideological zeal or implacable insecurity, the Soviets were an expansionary power. Dean Acheson wrote later: “The year 1946 was for the most part a year of learning that minds in the Kremlin worked very much as George F. Kennan had predicted they would.”

As 1946 set, no U.S. grand strategy had been designed or proclaimed. Some still held out a figment of hope for the realization of a modus vivendi, whereby both states could inhabit the postwar world in relative cooperation and peace. But that window of possibility was closing fast.

 

AS GEORGE MARSHALL processed his subordinates’ briefings in January and February of 1947 before leaving for Moscow, it seemed as though, as one historian wrote, “a get-tough attitude had become an end in itself.” Marshall listened intently. He agreed that the Soviet Union had been behaving aggressively, and was concerned. But he had a different take on Stalin. During the war, the Soviet Union was a dependable military ally, and its leader had kept his agreements. When the Allies stormed Normandy, the Soviets attacked in the East, as promised. Stalin had always done what he had said he would do on the eastern front.

Marshall had met with Stalin during the major wartime conferences (Tehran, Yalta and Potsdam). At their meetings, Stalin was unfailingly decisive and action oriented. Marshall had found the Soviet leader astute, direct and, to Marshall at least, affectionate. Marshall was also aware of his own prestige and its currency. When Stalin got ornery with Ambassador Harriman on one occasion about a certain U.S. military policy, Harriman rejoined that Marshall had made the decision and that Stalin’s parry was tantamount to an attack on Marshall. Stalin replied, “I trust Marshall as I trust myself.” Past experience suggested to Marshall that cooperation with Stalin was possible. And perhaps he was the one man who could achieve it. He was not prepared to let the world slide back into conflict without trying.

When Marshall’s plane lifted off in Washington on March 5, 1947, the general suffered no illusions about the difficulties that lay ahead, but he was hopeful that he could get through to Stalin and reach accord with the Soviet Union on the key matters that divided the powers—most notably Germany and reparations—to preserve the peace that both countries had fought so hard to achieve.

 

BEFORE REACHING MOSCOW, Marshall stopped in France and Germany for several preconference meetings. The flights gave Marshall a bird’s-eye view of Western Europe. Flying over Germany in July 1945, General George Patton remarked: “You who have not seen it do not know what hell looks like from the top.” The war had eviscerated Europe. More than 50 percent of housing in major cities, and in some up to 80 percent, was reduced to rubble. In London 3.5 million homes in the metropolitan area had been destroyed. Forty percent, 30 percent and 20 percent of the housing stock in Germany, Great Britain and France, respectively, was laid to waste. In Berlin, 75 percent of buildings were uninhabitable. Rubble—an estimated 500 million cubic yards of it in Germany—lay stories high on the sides of cleared thoroughfares. Thousands of bridges and tens of thousands of kilometers of railroad lines had been destroyed. Ninety percent of the rail lines in Germany were not operational. Ships and merchant fleets were decimated; Greece lost two-thirds of the fleet on which its economy depended. According to one American official, by war’s end Western Europe’s transportation systems were defunct. One simply could not go anywhere without the aid of the occupying forces.

Still worse was the human toll. One historian estimated that 36.5 million people—roughly the prewar population of France—died from 1939 to 1945 from war-related causes. On V-E Day, there were no less than 13 million displaced persons (DPs) in Europe, and the number was growing. One historian put the estimate at 20 million. Occupying Soviet forces raped as many as 2 million German women. More people faced starvation during the year following the war than during all of the war years combined, Harry Truman wrote later. According to the United Nations, in the summer of 1946 100 million Europeans were being fed at a level of 1,500 calories per day or less, a level at which health suffers severely. Another 40 million had only a few more hundred calories. Anne O’Hare McCormick of the New York Times proved prophetic when she wrote on March 14, 1945, “The human problem the war will leave behind has not yet been imagined, much less faced by anybody. There has never been such destruction, such disintegration of the structure of life.”

The physical destruction and the human dislocation were matched by an attendant postwar misery and dispiritedness. In Germany, much of the populace felt shamed and powerless. On one occasion, the Soviets uprooted a key optical factory along with its seven thousand skilled workers from Jena, in eastern Germany, and moved it to the Soviet Union. The workers were woken one evening and given thirty minutes to collect belongings and board a train. The occupation was less rapine in the western part of the country, but the hunger was even more acute.

Wartime France had pitted collaborators with the Vichy regime against those who fought with or abetted the Resistance, French against French. France’s experience left currents of antipathy, suspicion and ambiguity in the national psyche. Material and nutritional deprivation sometimes stoked the fire. In April 1945, the population of Paris averaged 1,337 calories per day. Singing at Le Club des Cinq, Yves Montand saw a patron grind out a cigar on a half-eaten lobster. He was so angry that he jumped from the stage, pounced on the customer, and punched him.

In Great Britain, they would be forever known as years of austerity. By the end of the war, Great Britain was spending more than half of its national production on the war effort. It was said in those days that Great Britain had only two natural resources: coal and the national character. The immediate postwar years taxed both, the latter almost to the breaking point. Robert Boothby, a Conservative member of Parliament declared: “We are blitzed, run-down, cold, hungry and exhausted. Our people have to endure hardship, privation, monotony, discomfort, and a crushing burden of taxation…If they are asked to go on doing this indefinitely, they will not rebel. They will simply fold up.”

Winston Churchill summed up the condition in Europe in a famous address in Zurich, Switzerland, in May 1946, one year after the war’s termination in Europe: “What is the plight to which Europe has been reduced? Over wide areas a vast quivering mass of tormented, hungry, careworn, and bewildered human beings gape at the ruins of their cities and homes, and scan the dark horizons for the approach of some new peril, tyranny, or terror. Among the victors there is a babel of jarring voices; among the vanquished a sudden silence of despair.” Henry Stimson’s diary entry put it in simple terms. The war and the destruction it had sown were “worse than anything probably that ever happened in the world.”

Then nature intervened. Around Christmas of 1946, a vast high-pressure area began to form near the Arctic Circle. Rolling across Norway, the front settled over Britain, bringing ferocious winds and a biting cold. By dawn on January 6, 1947, snow began falling on London, and by dusk it had crowned the dome of St. Paul’s Cathedral. In the ensuing weeks and months, Western Europe experienced the most punishing weather in living memory.

In Britain, snow piled up as high as twenty feet. Machinery froze, idle. Roads and rail lines were impassable anyhow. The night of January 30, the Thames froze. Coal—desperately needed and in short supply—sat frozen in carts attached to trains rendered immobile. The Times of London headline read: “All Britain Freezes.” A week later a number of power stations shut down. “For the first time in history,” wrote British historian Alan Bullock, “British industrial production was effectively halted for three weeks—something German bombing had never been able to do.” Registered unemployment skyrocketed almost sixfold during the crisis.

In Germany, more than 19,000 Berliners were treated for frostbite. On the walls of the bombed-out Reichstag, someone scrawled: “Blessed are the dead, for their hands do not freeze.” In an emergency measure, German families were allowed one tree for kindling to keep themselves warm. Already hungry, worn and demoralized, Germany’s industrial rehabilitation stalled further.

In France, snow fell in St. Tropez. For many the cold was worse than the hunger. Secretaries at the Quai d’Orsay (the French Foreign Ministry) could only type wearing mittens. One woman wrote her sister abroad that “every breath is like a sword.” Shop windows were unlit, and surgeons often found the power cut in the middle of operations and were left with total darkness. The storm ravaged an estimated 3.2–3.8 million acres of wheat planted that autumn. In both France and Italy, farmers ceased sending supplies to markets and hoarded food for themselves, their families and their livestock. Paris “terrified” philosopher Isaiah Berlin, to whom it seemed “empty and hollow and dead, like an exquisite corpse.”

Up until the storm hit, Western Europe had been staging what the United Nations’ postwar survey described as “a remarkable industrial recovery.” From the second half of 1945 to the last quarter of 1946, fifteen European countries had increased industrial production from 60 percent to 83 percent of 1938 levels. Against the backdrop of all the physical, human, and psychological problems, it was a great achievement, abetted in part by billions of dollars in U.S. loans and aid. But the progress, impressive as it was, masked deeper dislocation in Europe’s economies. The storm tore off that mask.

Well before the fabled storm of January 1947, three main underlying problems were already at work. They were interrelated, mutually reenforcing and, despite Europe’s incipient recovery, grave. The first was production, a problem that predated the war. Already during the 1930s, Great Britain and France had not been modernizing and replenishing their physical capital. From 1929 to 1938, there was no new net investment in French industry. The war, of course, further destroyed and depreciated factories, machinery and other physical capital. The human loss of skilled labor, generations of know-how and intellectual capital, sent labor productivity into sharp decline. Postwar labor productivity, the U.N. estimated, dropped to 40 to 50 percent of prewar levels.

With production low and a rebuilding effort needed, the demand for vital goods and services far exceeded their supply. Inflation followed. Widespread price controls and accompanying rationing programs did little to help. To meet people’s basic needs and the rebuilding efforts, government expenditures rose; but all the government spending further fueled inflation. People had little faith in the value of currencies, so they would spend immediately, exacerbating the problem even further. Inflation was dire in France. Wholesale prices rose 80 percent during 1946. It was worse in Germany. In 1947, a carton of cigarettes, which could be purchased for fifty cents on an American military base, was worth 1,800 reichsmarks on the black market, or $180 according to the legal rate of exchange. At this rate, for four cartons of cigarettes, one could hire a German orchestra for the evening. Or for twenty-four cartons, one could purchase a 1939 Mercedes-Benz.

Perhaps the most dire and fundamental problem was that Europe’s traditional patterns of trade had come undone. Before the war, trade in Europe assumed essentially a triangular pattern, with Great Britain, Germany and the rest of continental Europe as the three points. Great Britain had a large import surplus vis-à-vis Germany and continental Europe. To balance its payments, it drew on earnings from investments, shipping and insurance. With the earnings from Great Britain’s purchases, continental Europe could buy manufactured goods from Germany. With the Ruhr, Germany was Europe’s greatest producer. With its earnings, Germany in turn could buy raw materials needed to produce its manufactured goods from other European countries as well as their overseas colonies.

The quotas, tariffs, and protective walls erected during Europe’s economic depression in the 1930s yielded dislocation even before war broke out. The war and its fallout left this delicate web irrevocably rent. To finance its war effort and at the same time maintain its overseas dependencies, Great Britain had to liquidate many of the investments accumulated over centuries. Furthermore, whereas in the past Great Britain and continental Europe depended on Germany’s production and purchasing power—before the war it supplied more than 40 percent of the goods, metals and chemicals traded in Europe—the war had pulled Germany almost entirely off of its place on that triangle. At the same time, the European empires were beginning to dissolve and could no longer count on raw materials from the colonies.

European countries were not able to produce what they could not afford to buy elsewhere. When governments stepped in to finance increased production, it only helped to fuel inflation. Inflation, in turn, reduced people’s incentive to save and invest. It also diminished real wages, which further intensified production problems.

Increasingly, Europe found itself looking across the Atlantic to the United States. The United States was the only power whose economy had flourished during the war. Europe needed the goods and natural resources abundant in the United States to fuel its recovery. But, at the same time, Europe was not able to offer the United States goods or resources in return, nor could it draw on stores of investments or invisible earnings (like shipping or insurance). Europe had a balance-of-payments problem with the United States: in 1946 Europe’s overseas trade debt was $5 billion and growing. It was known as the “Dollar Gap.” It was the key problem looming behind Europe’s incipient recovery and it was becoming dire.

Some economic historians have argued that through further controls, rationing and sacrifice, Western Europe could have continued to finance its incipient recovery, Dollar Gaps and underlying economic problems, notwithstanding. Yet to Western European leaders such remedies did not seem viable. Their people were desperately fatigued; they were weak, vulnerable, insecure, and hope was among the scarcest resources that spring of 1947. As foreboding as its balance-of-payments crisis was Western Europe’s crisis of confidence. Western European leaders deemed the latter too grave to be able to withstand additional sacrifice in order to alleviate the former. Wrote journalist Theodore White: “Like a whale left gasping on the sand, Europe lay rotting in the sun.”

It was an accurate assessment; except that winter of 1947 there was little sun to be found in Europe. The snowfall of January was interrupted by a brief thaw, which in February turned into a merciless freeze, paralyzing much of Western European industry. The storm precipitated further economic dislocation, amplifying the structural and conditional problems already in place. The transformation was perhaps most acute in Great Britain. Manufacturing output in February was down 25 percent from the month before. That month the Times of London wrote: “The state of emergency through which we are now passing brings back memories of wartime.” And then on February 21, the British government issued a White Paper titled “Economic Survey for 1947,” which the Times called “the most disturbing statement ever made by a British government.”

It was a fateful month for Great Britain. In mid-February Britain referred Palestine to the United Nations, ceding some of its responsibilities and clout in the Middle East. It was also the month when Britain gave up the jewel in the crown, announcing that it would hand over its responsibilities to India sometime before June 1948. That February the Cabinet also agreed that Britain would have to suspend aid to Greece and Turkey, downsizing its commitment and influence in the Mediterranean forevermore. The empire as the world had known it had dissolved.

Great Britain had pared down its commitments. But still, the growing balance-of-payments crisis raised the specter of doom. The Observer spoke of “bankruptcy.” For centuries Great Britain and the other European empires had governed the international system, and now those empires were coming undone. Time magazine asked the question: “Was the U.S. ready to take [their] place?”

 

IN 1932 THE Cambridge Union opened debate on a motion: “This house sees more hope in Moscow than in Detroit.” It was a debate that would rage throughout Europe in the fifteen years to follow. Throughout the 1930s, capitalism was seen more and more to be failing Europe. Rather than dynamic and enterprising firms and leaders, old family firms, cartels and colluding oligarchs seemed to wield all the influence in economic life in Europe. In Britain and France the system was seen as “rotten” and marked by a “freezing of the capitalist spirit.” When the Depression hit, most business owners embraced protectionism and countenanced mass unemployment to protect their interests. Firms deployed scant risk or new investment to turn the tide.

When war came, many of Europe’s leading financial and industrial figures and institutions collaborated with the Nazis to preserve their interests. “France has got what she deserves!” declared Gabrielle Coco Chanel at a party on the Côte d’Azur with her country under Nazi occupation. Louis Renault and his family company agreed to gear production to supply the Nazi military. British socialist leader Sir Stafford Cripps called them the “Guilty Men.” In Germany, industry fed the Nazi war machine and Hitler’s “warfare state.”

During the Occupation in France, the capitalist establishment was lumped in with the Vichy regime and colored as collaborators. Communists, in contrast, were an important component of the Resistance. When France was liberated, they were not demure about their role. Stalin’s Communist forces had fought and sacrificed more than any other peoples. As they rolled west, they were greeted as liberators.

Capitalism, most Europeans felt after the war, had produced mass unemployment in the 1930s and had fed the buildup to war and Fascism’s reign over the continent. Most considered it defunct and immoral. They had heard Stalin’s boasts about what Communism had achieved in the Soviet Union (some were true, many were not). But the Communists’ role in the Resistance, and more importantly, the Soviet Union’s role in the war, gave Communism a moral sheen, a powerful aura of progress and momentum.

These were some of the ideological dynamics at play in postwar Europe, and the Soviet-led international Communist movement deftly exploited them. Far superior to the Americans at publicity, shortly after the war the Soviet Union was spending more on informational campaigns for the Communists in France than the United States was spending on its own informational campaigns in all of Europe. The message was that Communism offered Europe’s suffering masses equality, material provision, shared dignity and peace. Capitalism had failed them in the past, and it was continuing to fail to deliver them from their postwar woes.

The Communist message carried. “Nobody in Europe believes in the American way of life—that is, in private enterprise,” said British scholar A. J. P. Taylor. In western and central Europe the currents of the time redounded directly to the political benefit of national Communist parties. In Czechoslovakia, elections in 1946 gave the Communists just under 40 percent of the vote and a popular front. In France’s first postwar political election in October 1945, the Communist Party polled 5 million votes, the largest received by any party. A year later, in November 1946, the Communists won 29 percent of the vote, once again the greatest of any party. After the election, Communist Party leader Maurice Thorez demanded (unsuccessfully) to be prime minister. In Italy, mass unemployment and twenty years of pent-up anti-Fascist sentiment delivered close to 40 percent of the vote to the Communist Party and a collaborating Socialist Party in the June 1946 election. Communist support was strong and growing in Belgium, Holland, Greece and throughout Scandinavia.

The parties were well funded, and their capacity for organization and political opportunism were advanced and finely tuned. Each economic downturn, each ratchet in desperation or hopelessness was coal fueling Communist momentum. “There is no choice between becoming a Communist on 1,500 calories and a believer in democracy on 1,000,” said U.S. military commander Lucius Clay from Germany. In 1918, watching the Bolshevik Revolution from Washington, Secretary of State Robert Lansing had said: “Empty stomachs mean Bolsheviks. Full stomachs mean no Bolsheviks.”

As George Marshall flew over Europe on his way to Moscow, European stomachs were empty, hope was low and prospects were bleak.








Chapter Two

THE GENERAL’S LAST STAND




AT 3:30 P.M. ON MARCH 9, 1947, George Marshall and his delegation touched down at Moscow’s General Airport. It was still cold, but the worst of the Russian winter had passed. The war had taken so many men that women could be seen assiduously shoveling snow from the streets. It was a large delegation full of generals, Foreign Service officials, economists, aides and others. When they arrived at Spaso House—the “cavernous stucco mansion built by a sugar tycoon in 1914,” now the American Embassy and home to the American delegation for the duration of the conference—Walter Bedell Smith, Averell Harriman’s successor as ambassador and formerly a general under Marshall during the war, ceded his bedroom to Marshall and set up desks in as many cubbyholes as he could find. The capacious embassy, normally barren, teemed with officials, working around the clock, for the duration of the conference.

Some in the delegation were concerned about Marshall. He had been going too hard for too long and appeared tired. Others felt that he did not have enough time to prepare and familiarize himself with the context and intricacies of the matters at hand. They were concerned that he would be outmaneuvered by cunning diplomats. At the request of Senator Arthur Vandenberg, Marshall had invited John Foster Dulles, an experienced international lawyer generally recognized as the senior diplomat in the Republican Party. Dulles’s presence and his penchant for self-promotion at Moscow led some to question whether Marshall was in full command of his delegation. Bedell Smith, who had known Marshall the best and the longest, was not concerned: “I had seen the General under all conditions of stress and strain, and I had never seen him fail eventually to dominate every gathering by sheer force of his integrity, honesty and dignified simplicity.”

The agenda for the conference would include a peace treaty for Austria, border issues in Eastern Europe and claims for war reparations, but the number one issue would be Germany, what French Foreign Minister Georges Bidault called “the Allies’ stumbling block and the biggest obstacle to a genuine European peace.” Shortly after the Allies defeated Germany, they assumed four-part control, with the United States, the Soviet Union, Great Britain and France all responsible for administration in one sphere, and the powers collectively responsible for administering joint national policy in the Allied Control Council, or ACC. Roosevelt had believed that relations in Germany would define America’s ability to cooperate with the Soviet Union in the postwar world. Since then, repeated disagreements had emerged concerning reparations, Germany’s level of production and other policies.

The eastern zone, administered by the Soviet Union, was rich in foodstuffs and agriculture but poor in industry. The western zone administered by Great Britain contained most of the Ruhr. With prodigious coal resources, it was Germany’s industrial heartland and the core of its war-making potential. In addition to stripping resources from its own zone, the Soviets sought reparations from the zones controlled by Great Britain and the United States. Because these zones did not have foodstuffs, and because France insisted that Germany’s industrial production remain low, lest it reemerge as a security threat, the United States and Great Britain found themselves footing huge costs, not only in financing the occupation but in feeding and caring for the German population.

The differing interests and approaches of the Soviets on one side and the Americans and British on the other led to repeated squabbles and escalating contention and mistrust. Into 1946, the prospect of four-power cooperation appeared increasingly dim. As the plight of Germany’s people worsened and the financial burden on the United States increased, the U.S. occupying authority, Lucius Clay—irascible and mercurial, yet forceful and effective—simply cut off all reparations from the U.S. zone in May 1946. Meanwhile, the Soviets were consolidating their economic and political ties in the eastern zone.

As Europe’s economic woes continued into the spring of 1947, a new view was gaining traction in U.S. circles. Trumpeting a seminal report released by former President Herbert Hoover in February 1947, the War Department and other important officials like Averell Harriman, then secretary of commerce, were coming to believe that Germany’s rehabilitation was the key to Europe’s economic woes. The report argued: “There is only one path to recovery in Europe. That is production. The whole economy of Europe is interlinked with the German economy…We can keep Germany in these economic chains but it will also keep Europe in rags.”

There was a problem, however, in the concept of re-igniting Germany’s economy. France had been at war with Germany three times in the last three generations, and was duly petrified at the prospect of rehabilitating the fatherland. France envisioned a postwar Europe in which it, and not Germany, would be the continent’s leading economy. France wanted Germany to keep providing it with key resources; otherwise, France sought to keep German production as low as possible. Many in the U.S.—including State Department officials, and Marshall himself—had sympathy for the French position. Convinced of France’s importance and the fragility of her internal politics, they took pains to meet her requests. As Marshall said, one may dispute the basis of France’s fears, but one cannot dispute the fact of those fears.

Nevertheless the emerging Soviet threat was coming to overshadow the German one. In mid-1946, then Secretary of State James Byrnes sought to cut through the apprehensions and mistrust with the Soviet Union over Germany. He proposed a twenty-five-year demilitarization treaty. Germany would demilitarize, deflating the suspicions each had about harnessing German power to their interests and paving the way for economic and political cooperation. Soviet Foreign Minister Vyacheslav Molotov did not accept, sowing profound seeds of suspicion in the United States over Soviet designs in Germany. “Almost all U.S. officials agreed that there was no issue of greater importance than Germany,” wrote Melvyn Leffler, and they realized that “the Ruhr/Rhineland complex must not be allowed to support the military potential of a future adversary whether it be Germany or Russia or a combination of the two.”

By January 1947, the scenario most dreaded was Soviet control of Germany and its industrial capacity. In a telegram to Marshall early that month, Ambassador Bedell Smith expounded on the threat: “There are signs that the dream of happy union between Soviet resources and manpower and German technical skill and administrative ability is again hovering about pillows of Soviet leaders.” The Soviet approach to Germany was based on two elements, Bedell Smith cabled the general: first, maintaining and increasing control in eastern Germany, and, second, “endeavoring to assure necessary conditions in western zones most favorable to development of Communist Party and least favorable to development of western orientation.”

In laying out economic and political terms for Germany, Bedell Smith predicted, the Soviets would push for a strong and centralized government. This way, they would be ensured—as they had been at the ACC—a strong voice in all decisions, perhaps even a veto and the ability to impede recovery and reform. He also predicted that the Soviets would press for reparations, in part to meet their great financial needs but also to frustrate recovery in the West, thereby fueling discontent and disorder and laying favorable conditions for Communist influence. The “issue then is Germany and with it the future of Europe,” Bedell Smith concluded: “For all of these reasons impending Conference of Foreign Ministers meeting as seen from here promises to afford long and tedious struggle. Russia will be at home and patience for them will be an easy virtue.”

 

ON A TYPICAL DAY during the conference, Marshall read cables from Washington and memos in the early morning. Around midmorning, he met with staff in the embassy’s main reception room to work out the line to be followed in the negotiations that day. After lunch he would go for some exercise, always trailed by a bevy of Soviet security men. When he left Spaso House at around 3:30 P.M., flagged by Russian cars with six security men each, in front and behind, the Russians would send forth a signal so that by the time Marshall’s car reached the main street, all traffic had been cleared and no one was allowed to cross the street. Sessions began at 4 P.M. at the Aviation Industry House, near the Moscow Hotel, and generally lasted three to four hours.

The general had met each of the three other foreign ministers before. His British counterpart, Ernest Bevin, had a stout, corpulent frame; one of Marshall’s aides described him as a cross between Santa Claus and a Welsh coalman. An orphan, Bevin was a laborer who, through a mix of tenacity and keen strategic judgment, had worked his way up in union politics to build Britain’s largest trade union. When war broke out, Churchill brought him into his Cabinet and placed him in charge of mobilizing British manpower and much of its industry. Though he led a competing party, Churchill had great respect for Bevin. To Lady Diana Cooper, a prominent British aristocrat, Bevin was “massive, rude, and strong as a Stonehenge cromlech…as tilled, as fertile, and generous as his English fields. Proud of his lowliness and of his achievements, he loved his fellow-men with as much fervor as he admired himself.”

Bevin was ill and so had to make the long journey via train. A few years prior, a doctor had found “not a sound organ in his body, apart from his feet.” But he was determined to restore the Commonwealth’s power and stature. “The British Empire,” he told a newspaper columnist in March 1946, “isn’t going to be either the 49th [American] state or the 17th [Soviet] Republic.” But, as the year passed, America and Great Britain’s interests, particularly in Germany, had converged, and suspicion about Soviet intentions brought Bevin in line with Marshall at Moscow.

It was security, above all, that French Foreign Minister Georges Bidault sought at Moscow. French Ambassador to the United States Henri Bonnet told Marshall a month prior to the conference: “Security is still the question that most concerns France. However much the situation may have changed, the French peasant still thinks of Germany and wonders whether he will have to fight a third war.” Bidault was an intellectual who had become a revered leader during the Resistance. He was charming and witty, but also “impetuous, melodramatic, and known to have a penchant for alcohol.” To realize its security, France wanted, like Great Britain and the United States, a politically decentralized Germany, one that would have factions and built-in checks on power. On the economic front, France sought reparations; it sought international control—and possible detachment—of the Ruhr/Rhine industrial complex; it sought the mineral-rich Saarland for itself; it sought to keep German industry down; and it desperately needed coal.

For France, there was perhaps only one scenario worse than a reemerging Germany, and that was a reemerging Germany under Soviet control. In the past, French and Soviet security concerns seemed to dovetail, and the two hewed to similar lines in the Allied Control Council. But, Bidault, too, was becoming increasingly concerned about Soviet designs in Germany. He was coming to think of France’s destiny as bound to the Western powers. The French Communists’ strong domestic political influence meant that he would have to proceed with caution. Marshall and much of the State Department were sympathetic, but others at the War Department and elsewhere had come to believe that there was no time to waste in re-igniting German production, and France had to fall into line.

Marshall had met Vyacheslav Molotov, the Soviet Union’s longtime foreign minister, as early as 1942 when Molotov was pushing the other Allies to open a second front. The archetypal Soviet party man, Molotov was disciplined and firm, earning one of his nicknames, “stoney-arse.” He was a bureaucrat’s bureaucrat; Lenin had called him “comrade filing cabinet.” Bland and unfailingly loyal, he won Stalin’s trust and confidence. The third nickname was the best; he was his “master’s voice.” Molotov was a forceful negotiator of few words, guile, persistence, and seemingly interminable patience. He was complicit in Stalin’s purges in the 1930s, evincing a capacity for brutality as well.

 

THE CONFERENCE OPENED on March 10, in a spacious, ornate room in the Aviation Industry House. The ministers sat, with several aides to their sides, at a table covered by a green baize cloth, and rows of chairs filled by other aides spread from the table in all directions. Seating was ritualistic: to the left of the French sat the British, then the Russians, then the Americans. Speaking went in clockwise order and the chairmanship rotated in that order daily. After the first day, Bevin remarked, “There is courtesy, there are no high words being used, no tempers, but all of it is cool and calculated [and] between them the two big boys look to me to be pretty determined.”

By day five, on March 14, Marshall and Molotov had begun to clash over Germany. As disagreement became more pronounced, the Soviets showed scant interest in reconciliation or proceeding expeditiously to find solutions. Marshall allowed that perhaps part of the problem was procedural. Each speech had to be translated into two languages. As such, translations took up a good portion of each three-or four-hour session. Marshall proposed that speeches be submitted in advance to save time on translation. The Soviets declined. As retribution, Marshall held up one of the meetings with a prolonged oration that seemed to leave even Molotov squirming. Marshall feigned apology and said it could be redressed if the conference took up his time-saving proposal; but it was not.

On March 17, one week into the conference, the issue of war reparations came up. Molotov claimed that the Soviet Union had been promised $10 billion in reparations at earlier wartime conferences, and given the prodigious sacrifices it had made it was entitled to the funds. At various times Churchill and Roosevelt had in fact intimated that reparations at that level could be considered, but no formal agreement had been reached. As Marshall and Bevin saw it, Europe and Germany’s economic troubles and Soviet truculence had refashioned the context and placed reparations in a new light. Because the United States and Great Britain had to provide large amounts of aid to their occupation zones, reparations for the Soviet Union would effectively constitute transfer payments from the United States and Great Britain to the Soviet Union. Marshall argued that if the Soviets cooperated to achieve German economic unity, Germany could produce more, and everyone would benefit from revitalized German production. On the other hand, he said, “We cannot accept a unified Germany under a procedure which in effect would mean that the American people would pay reparations to an ally.”

The powers moved on to other issues, but Molotov would not agree to anything until the Soviet demand for reparations was met. It thus became the ostensible sticking point for the next several weeks. Speech followed translated speech; recrimination followed recrimination, interspersed with the occasional plea for goodwill and progress. Molotov would sit with his hand on his chin, his elbow on the table, his head nodding slowly, “completely poker-faced,” as one of Marshall’s aides described him. Bevin would peer through his tortoiseshell glasses, cigarette dangling from his mouth, often peeking out from books or memos passed to him from aides. To some, Bidault appeared to play the part of the urbane intellectual, “a smoothy type,” one of Marshall’s aides wrote. Others felt that his excessive drinking impeded his effectiveness.

Whatever Bidault’s state, though, the French line remained firm: France wanted a prior claim to German industrial production; it wanted to limit Germany’s level of industry and it wanted control of as much of the Ruhr/Rhine, and particularly the Saar, as possible. France had sought to navigate a middle way, tacitly colluding with the Soviet Union on keeping Germany weak, yet cooperating with the United States, the ultimate arbiter of German policy in the western zones. But that passageway was becoming compressed, and as the fissure between the U.S. and Great Britain on one side and the Soviet Union on the other calcified, it appeared that France would have to throw in its lot with one camp. When Molotov recanted on Soviet support for French annexation of the Saar, it stung Bidault deeply. More than that, it seemed to provide confirmation of the Soviet Union’s disregard for French interests, its hostile intentions, and it also seemed to provide the domestic political cover Bidault sorely needed to move closer to the United States and Great Britain.

To some in the United States, $10 billion in reparations was an eminently reasonable demand, and it was certainly a cheap price to pay for cooperation. Marshall himself was willing to consider some amount of reparations. Revisionist historians have pointed out that part of the U.S. refusal was due to popular domestic unwillingness to foot the bill. Some have gone further to suggest that if the United States had met this reasonable demand the Cold War itself might have been avoided. Marshall and his advisers did not see it that way. To them, the reparation issue was one part of the equation. Agreement on political terms and interests in the Ruhr/Rhine were still to be decided, and the Soviets would not have been likely to have given any headway on either issue. Victory on all these points would have provided the Soviet Union with an untenable amount of influence in Germany at a time when Germany and the rest of Western Europe were weak and vulnerable. Second, reparations simply masked the more fundamental divergence of objectives in Germany. As the days passed and disagreement continued, Marshall and Bevin were becoming increasingly convinced that Molotov was being dilatory on purpose, and that the Soviet Union wished to see its tentacles extended as far west as possible. If the Soviet Union was truly concerned about its security, as it claimed, then why would it not accept the demilitarization plan that Marshall continued to offer? The Soviets seemed much more interested in extracting reparations and, already having established its political hold on the east, enhancing its influence in the western zones as well.

On March 24, Bevin, whose health was recovering nicely, ventured to the Kremlin to speak with Stalin. Stalin’s tone was conciliatory and assuring, if entirely noncommittal. Bevin left with a renewed confidence in the conference’s prospects. But no progress followed the meeting. So little was agreed upon, in fact, that the discussions had degenerated into negotiations about what subjects would be discussed. Molotov’s diatribes seemed to lengthen, meandering with no discernible aim. In a letter back home to Vandenberg, Dulles wrote: “The third week has now wended its weary way, [with the Soviets] unwilling to get to grips with the real problems, apparently feeling that the process of exhaustion has not yet gone far enough.”

As March passed into April, sheets of rain washed away the winter’s accumulated snow. A thaw set in. The circus was on. Vendors were selling ice cream and children took to playing in the streets. At the conference, there followed a profusion of banquets. The Soviet hosts served caviar, sturgeon, pheasant and champagne, and as custom had it, the toasts flowed. There were “sumptuous” outings to the Bolshoi Theater to see Romeo and Juliet, The Nutcracker and other ballets. As Bidault would later recall, “the politeness also became more elaborate. Yet it was purely verbal politeness and did not spring from the heart.” And it could not obscure the gravity of the consequences of each day that passed without agreement on Germany.

On April 2, having achieved no meaningful agreement on economic matters, the participants moved on to Germany’s political organization. The Soviet Union was alone in pressing for a strong central government. The United States and Great Britain interpreted the Soviet position as a gambit that they could confidently steer Germany in the direction of their political orbit. The U.S. could not allow for that possibility. These arguments went on for the better part of a week, when Marshall finally suggested they move on to the next question. By this time, the atmosphere had become toxic. Molotov had greeted almost every proposal with counterproposals, amendments, delay. Molotov’s tactics drove Bevin to declare that as far as he was concerned he “didn’t care what the Council discussed next.”

Convinced that they would have to act alone, Marshall and Bevin began having lunch daily, mapping out a strategy for Germany. They would proceed immediately to raise the level of industry in their zone and press for Germany’s rehabilitation. No reparations would be extracted, and to assuage French concerns, they would do their best to meet its coal needs and continue to engage it on the Ruhr/Rhine and security matters. Marshall suggested to Bevin that they wait six weeks to make public any of their agreements, lest the Soviet Union propagandize that the United States and Britain had been colluding all along, sabotaging any chance of agreement.

Marshall and Bevin agreed to try once more to get Molotov to sign on to the demilitarization proposal. When Molotov delayed and then offered crippling amendments, Bevin scolded his Soviet counterpart. They had been there for five weeks now, the old union organizer said. “If we cannot agree to the basic first step of keeping Germany disarmed and unable to wage war, we have indicated to the world a complete lack of unity of purpose in our approach to the German settlement,” he said. “Since we have failed to reach agreement on the four-power treaty, I suggest we move on to the next item.”

 

BEVIN AND BIDAULT had already had their meetings with Stalin. Well aware of Communist strength in France and Bidault’s precarious position, Stalin had borne down on the French minister. Two-against-two is better than three-against-one, Stalin told Bidault, in an unveiled Realpolitik entreaty. Bidault did not bite. Stalin was charming and assuring with Bevin. Marshall had waited. He did not want to see Stalin until all the diplomatic cards were on the table and all the key fault lines had come into view. Marshall had been working around the clock, up until midnight, most nights. On April 15, after some thirty fruitless meetings, he decided that it was time to cut through the temporizing and false politesse. He knew Stalin as a man of his word. They had cooperated in war and Marshall still hoped they could achieve cooperation in peace.

In the dark of night, Marshall’s limousine pulled out of the American Embassy and drove along the Arbat—what Bedell Smith felt was probably the most policed street in the world—and arrived at the gates of the Kremlin. Passing security, the car drove by imposing towers, courtyards and orthodox churches and eventually to the building that housed Stalin’s offices. Passing a series of ushers and soldiers, the delegation, including Bedell Smith and Chip Bohlen, a State Department aide and Marshall’s translator for the meeting, got out of the elevator on the third floor, made its way down a long, narrow corridor and walked through the high double door leading to Stalin’s office. Passing a series of reception rooms, the delegation entered a paneled conference room, where Molotov, a few others and Stalin himself were waiting.

Stalin greeted Marshall: “You look the same as when I saw you last time,” he said, “but I am just an old man.” The two were roughly the same age. But it was true. Stalin had aged poorly under the strain of war. He seemed smaller, his trademark square-cut tunic oversized. His face was badly scarred from a near-fatal bout of smallpox as a child; his teeth were discolored and his mustache seemed thinner. He was slow, but commanding, and the scars, the wear and his yellow eyes gave the appearance of “an old battle-scarred tiger.” Both delegations sat around a large table, flanked on the walls by grand portraits of Russian marshals from the Napoleonic Wars.

Marshall went first. He was trained as a soldier, not as a diplomat, he told Stalin, and he would speak as a soldier, directly and without double meaning. He was “very concerned and somewhat depressed at the extent and depth of misunderstandings and differences which had been revealed at this conference.” He had studied American opinion, Marshall said, and at the end of the war no other country rivaled the degree of esteem in which the American people held the Soviet Union. But in the time since, the Soviets had broken agreements and had delayed progress on further ones. “These practices,” Marshall said, “unfortunately led to accusations and inevitable suspicion, so that as a result, when they came to the conference, everyone was so filled with suspicion and distrust as to make agreement virtually impossible.” Still, cooperation had been possible during the war, Marshall said, and he was certain it could be once more.

The general recounted the disagreements over Germany, reparations and the demilitarization proposal. With a clear and even tone, he explained the U.S. position on each. Marshall ended the litany with a firm declaration: “We are frankly determined to do what we can to assist those countries which are suffering from economic deterioration which, if unchecked, might lead to economic collapse and the consequent elimination of any chance of democratic survival…it was our intention to help, insofar as we could, to restore the economy of such countries.” As Marshall spoke, Stalin sat quietly, puffing on a cigarette and doodling a wolf’s head in red ink on a pad of paper. Mostly he looked down or off to the side, but at moments turned to Marshall to look him in the eyes. Marshall concluded, saying that he wished to “re-erect [the] relationship of cooperation and hope and clear away some of the suspicion.” He thanked Stalin for letting him speak so long and so freely.

Of course cooperation would be possible, Stalin assured him. But there had been delays and disagreement on the U.S. side as well. Economic unity was possible, Stalin said, but meant nothing without political unity. He desired a strong central government, so that Germany would not be divided and repeat its post-Napoleonic consolidation along waves of nationalism and militarism. The issue of reparations was fundamental to the Soviet Union. “While reparations might not be popular in the United States and England, ten billion dollars of reparations was very popular in the Soviet Union,” Stalin said. Ten billion dollars had been agreed to at Yalta, Stalin said, and that sum spread over twenty years did not seem unreasonable.

In brief turns Stalin and Marshall rehashed their varied interpretations of the delays and recriminations. The meeting had gone on for almost an hour and a half. Marshall had done most of the talking; half of the time had been spent with translations. It was time for Stalin’s parting words. He did not share Marshall’s grave concern. The situation was not so tragic, he said. He was more optimistic than Marshall. Differences had occurred before, and as a rule when both parties had exhausted themselves in dispute they would arrive at a compromise. Agreement on all the main issues was possible; there was no need for desperation. It was necessary to have patience and not become too depressed, Stalin said. He wished Marshall to be convinced that the Russians would be frank and open and that it was “impermissible to turn the problem of Germany into any sort of a game or in any way to play up to or flirt with the Germans.” He appreciated the frankness of Stalin’s statement, Marshall said. He was encouraged by his last words and only hoped that Generalissimo Stalin was right. Stalin assured him that his closing remarks were correct. Marshall took leave. It was 11:30 P.M.

 

WHAT WAS STALIN’S grand design? What was he trying to achieve at the Moscow Conference? The most definitive answer remains that it is not entirely certain. An apparatchik who knew Stalin well during his postwar reign said: “He changed. I saw at least five or six Stalins.” Part of the reason was that Stalin was exhausted after the war, and as tensions escalated with the Allies immediately following the war, he grew increasingly erratic. Part of the reason also had to do with Stalin’s methods. Even with his closest subordinates, Stalin kept his cards close to his vest. Deception and conspiracy were the norm within Stalin’s court and have endowed the Soviet dictator with a shroud of historical inscrutability.

Nevertheless, a trove of post–Cold War scholarship on Stalin helps to distill broad but discernible contours. Stalin, it is now clear, viewed the Soviet strategic interest through the prism of a distinct ideology. Informed by Leninist doctrine, and his own personal experiences and compulsions, Stalin believed in the historic inevitability of international Communism. Divining the future and the laws that would shape it, he believed that competition over territory, resources and profit would bring capitalist countries into conflict, and eventually, Stalin was certain, a third world war. The war to come would be decisive, doing away with capitalism for good and paving the way for the spread of Communism throughout the world.

This war was inevitable according to Stalin’s crystal ball, but not in the near term. As World War II ended, the Soviet Union’s military was emasculated, its industry was gravely depleted and its people were exhausted. He had no capabilities to wage war against any of the “imperialist” powers, least of all the United States. To sate his febrile concern for security—his own above all, and then that of the Soviet Union—and to rest and replenish for the conflict ahead, Stalin craved peace in the near term. “We shall recover in fifteen or twenty years, and then we’ll have another go at it,” Stalin said.

To provide that peace and respite, Stalin sought accommodation, even cooperation, with his war-time Allies. But he sought it on his own terms. The Soviet Union’s wartime sacrifices entitled it to security (which he conflated with territory), to expand its sphere of influence and to ensure autonomy within that zone. The British Empire had global reach, and the United States now did as well. Driven in part by these dynamics as well as his own personal insecurity and ambition, even as he sought peace and accommodation, Stalin would probe and pursue expansion opportunistically.

Stalin’s speech to Marshall, we now know, was a negotiating tactic. He had directed Molotov not to give in to U.S. or British terms during the Moscow negotiations. The negotiations over the peace treaties concerning the smaller European Axis powers had been similarly lengthy and contentious, but eventually they reached agreement. Stalin still hoped for agreement, but on terms most advantageous to him. We now know also that the U.S. atomic monopoly, and the demonstration of its destructive capabilities at Hiroshima and Nagasaki troubled Stalin deeply. He would not let the United States wield “atomic diplomacy” to dictate the terms of the peace that his country, more than any other, had sacrificed to achieve. If the U.S. and Great Britain felt resolution was urgent, wasn’t it the wiser negotiating position to delay, and press the other powers into as many concessions as possible? And if the Soviets did in fact want accommodation in the near term, albeit on better terms and a modified timetable, wasn’t the right course for Marshall simply to seize what Stalin scholar Geoffrey Roberts believed was in fact “an opportunity to arrive at a postwar settlement that could have averted the cold war and avoided the ideological warfare” to follow?

The answer to this question is no. And the reason is because, for Marshall, what mattered most was not what Stalin may have wanted but what he had done, how he had acted and the strategic position that had been created as a result.

The meeting confirmed Marshall’s fears. Ostensibly, Stalin’s justifications for the Soviet positions were reasonable. Had the United States met these demands though, it would have provided the Soviet Union with an untenable position of power in Western Europe. Reparations would have made Germany, already in desperate straits, much weaker, and would have transferred resources from the U.S. to the Soviet Union. With Germany foundering, and Soviet influence extended in each zone of the country, political centralization would mean that Germany would be consolidated, without checks to power, and ripe for Soviet picking. Precedent in Eastern Europe, the Soviets’ interest in controlling Germany to eliminate the security threat and the opportunity to gain control of the Ruhr/Rhine industrial complex all suggested that this might be the Soviets’ design. We now know that in 1946 Stalin said: “All of Germany must be ours, that is Soviet, Communist.”

Meanwhile, conditions in Germany were getting worse every day. Strikes and food riots had erupted. Growing shortages meant even the 1,550-calorie daily ration might not be met. U.S. diplomatic representative to Germany Robert Murphy warned that he had not seen German morale so low since the days of Germany’s capitulation. Lucius Clay spoke of the “rapid penetration of Communism.” If Stalin wanted peace, Marshall believed, he would have pushed for real progress. As it was, Europe was in desperate straits. With each day, conditions grew more and more favorable to Communist ascension and Soviet expansion, even Soviet domination of the continent. The real issue for Marshall was that the lack of urgency Stalin demonstrated in their meeting and the instability he seemed willing to abide, or even foment, in Western Europe, as historian William Taubman noted, was in fact “indistinguishable from the disruption Moscow might have fostered if it had high hopes for immediate revolution.” That is why Stalin’s dilatory posture and his casual assurances chilled Marshall so.

Marshall could not have known about Stalin’s genuine desire for near-term peace and accommodation. But, even if he had, the Soviet basis for accommodation was so advantageous to Stalin that it would have placed the United States in an untenable strategic position. And even after $10 billion in reparations, political concessions on Germany’s political organization and authority over the Ruhr/Rhine, it is likely that Stalin would have continued to probe opportunistically. He may even have been emboldened by the affirmation that intransigence would yield such concessions. And as the United States waited to gauge the results of those concessions, Western Europe would have continued to deteriorate further. Marshall was not prepared to abide it. The battle lines had come into view. And time would become the new theater of war in the months to follow.

 

IN THE WAKE OF HIS MEETING with Stalin, Marshall effectively gave up on the prospect of any meaningful agreement. Behind the scenes, though, he agreed with Bevin to move to increase the level of production in their zones in Germany, pushing for German economic recovery in the hopes that it would drive recovery in the rest of the region. A day earlier, Bevin had sent a letter back home to Prime Minister Clement Attlee. He wrote of the four-power treaty, in particular, “If the Russians had accepted it, a bridge could have been built and the antagonism growing so fast in the U.S.A. would have been checked…Russia has made a bad mistake, as bad as when she linked up with Hitler in 1939.” In later years, Bidault would write, “The conference in Moscow proved that the only future for us lay in a Free Europe.” Bidault was disgusted by the Soviets’ tactics at the conference, frightened at the possibility of its aggressive designs on Western Europe and smarted from Molotov’s volte-face on French claims to the Saar. In a poignant meeting with Marshall, the French minister said: “To the American question, ‘Can we rely on France?’ the answer was, ‘Yes.’” But the French were weak, and pushing German recovery too fast could deliver the country to the Communists. Mostly France needed “time to avoid a civil war,” Bidault told Marshall.

On the afternoon of April 24, the 43rd and final session of the Moscow Conference of Foreign Ministers adjourned. That evening, as procedure and protocol dictated, the host country threw a banquet for the visiting ministers. In the ornate St. George’s Room, a hall built by Catherine the Great, the ministers gathered with selected members of each delegation in tow. They were greeted by all the members of the Politburo. As they sat down, the usual swath of toasts followed. Stalin raised his glass to Marshall and Bevin but omitted Bidault in the first round, a slight that left the French foreign minister furious. Stalin seemed relaxed and assured. When Marshall’s turn came, though, the subterranean tension became tangible. Stalin stopped puffing on his cigarette and turned to the American secretary. “My country is a young country,” Marshall said, “and like all peoples in such a country, our people are impatient. They are impatient to see Europe back on its feet…healthy and productive once more…If I have failed at this conference in showing you that this is our object[ive]—and this only—then I have failed in my duty to this country.”

Marshall’s plane took off the next day. On his way back, he stopped at Tempelhof Airport in Berlin to consult with Clay, and to instruct him to move to revive Germany’s industrial production without delay. Then he left for home.

He had been away for six tedious weeks. It was the longest of the foreign ministers’ conferences, and no meaningful agreement had been achieved. Marshall had made progress with Bevin and Bidault, though. And he had met with Stalin, had looked him in the eye, and had taken full measure of the Soviet dictator and his intentions for Germany and Europe. If not agreement, Marshall felt he had achieved clarity. John Foster Dulles later said, “The Moscow Conference was, to those who were there, like a streak of lightning that illuminated a dark and stormy scene.” Now Marshall would come home. “All the way back to Washington,” Chip Bohlen recalled, “Marshall talked of the importance of finding some initiative to prevent the complete breakdown of Western Europe.”

 

IN A NEWSPAPER INTERVIEW a few months later, Marshall told a reporter that Moscow “brought us to the important conclusion that we face the choice of quitting Europe altogether or of completing the task of European recovery…We had no intention of quitting.” For Marshall, Moscow was decisive. In meetings with Bevin, in consultations with Dulles, Bohlen and others at the embassy, and perhaps most importantly in discussion on the flight home from Berlin, Marshall had become resolved to address Europe’s problems with a bold stroke. The contours of the path ahead were not yet clear, but the direction of that path was firmly set.

Upon arriving back home in Washington, Marshall decided that he would follow Byrnes’s custom of speaking to the American people following the foreign ministers’ conference. On Monday, April 28, at 8:30 in the evening, the general addressed the nation via radio broadcast. He said that proceedings at Moscow suggested that the prospects for cooperation with the Soviet Union were not good. At the same time, conditions in Western Europe were dire. Europe’s recovery was essential to U.S. interests. Despite continued disagreement with the Soviet Union, the United States needed to proceed at once. His tone was measured and not at all provocative. But it was purposeful. “We cannot ignore the factor of time involved. Disintegrating forces are becoming evident,” he said. “I believe that action can not await compromise through exhaustion.” Lest anyone miss the urgency of the moment, Marshall put it in very plain terms: “the patient is sinking while the doctors deliberate.”








Chapter Three

THE DRUMBEAT AT STATE




ON THE SAME DAY that George Marshall set out for Moscow in March 1947, Will Clayton was recuperating from a streptococcus infection that had almost cost him his foot, at a ranch in Tucson, Arizona. For months now, Clayton, the undersecretary of state for Economic Affairs, was becoming increasingly alarmed at Europe’s deterioration. Europe was at the tail end of its most brutal winter in recent history, so the dry Arizona heat and the comfort of his favorite ranch set an odd backdrop for the memorandum that Clayton was about to pen. Clayton anticipated that the Moscow Conference would yield little progress on the continent’s future and that further deterioration and grave consequences would follow. The tocsin had to be sounded.

“I am deeply disturbed by the present world picture and its implications for our country,” Clayton’s March 5 memorandum began. “The reins of world leadership are fast slipping from Britain’s competent but very weak hands. These reins will be picked up either by the United States or by Russia.” If the United States abdicated, Clayton wrote, war would follow. The American people needed to be shocked into action. That would not be difficult, Clayton believed: “To shock them, it is only necessary…to tell them the truth and the whole truth.”

 

WILLIAM LOCKHART CLAYTON was born on February 7, 1880—the same year as George Marshall—in Tupelo, Mississippi. Clayton’s childhood was set in the post–Civil War South. Tupelo was a backwater, and his parents were poor. As a young teenager, Clayton spent his days in school and his afternoons working for his father’s laundry business, while evenings were split between studying for exams “by the light of the only good lamp in the house” and taking typing lessons, which he hoped to parlay into typing work, for which he would be well paid. Impressed with Clayton’s shorthand and typing skills, a cotton merchant passing through town offered him a position in St. Louis. When Clayton left Tupelo, he had only an eighth-grade education. His would be one of the most remarkable success stories of twentieth-century America.

After a year, he followed the merchant to New York, where he began in a remedial post at the American Cotton Company, one of the biggest cotton brokerage firms in the U.S. He worked around the clock. In what spare time he had, he read assiduously. “If you read and absorb every line on the editorial page of the New York Times, you will keep posted on all the worthwhile events at home and abroad,” he counseled a younger coworker. Slowly, he moved up the ranks at American Cotton.

Then, at twenty-four, with $9,000 in borrowed capital from his wife, Sue, and his brothers-in-law, Clayton founded Anderson, Clayton and Company in Oklahoma City. Immediately Clayton implemented cutting-edge technology and innovative management techniques. He took advantage of international inefficiencies, doing away with unnecessary middlemen and brokers and opening up offices all over the world. By 1920, Anderson, Clayton had offices in Bremen, Liverpool, Le Havre and China and additional operations in Czechoslovakia, Yugoslavia, Poland, Hungary and the Baltic states. By 1936, Anderson, Clayton had annual revenues of $200 million. Clayton had built the largest cotton brokerage firm in the world. He was a multimillionaire. The cover of Time magazine dubbed him “King Cotton.”

Clayton applied himself to his work with an all-consuming intensity. His powers of concentration were enormous and his energy boundless. “You’ve got to live the thing” you are working on, he would tell Sue. At the same time, Clayton was an acute observer of the larger currents shaping the world around him. With offices and operations around the globe, Clayton came to be a fervent believer in the power of free markets and free trade. They were the foundation upon which Clayton built his firm, and the keys, he was coming to believe, to the creation of wealth in the United States and around the world.

He began speaking out and gave addresses around the country. His national profile grew. When World War II broke out, he was brought into government to run the operation focused on procuring materials and resources that the Allies needed, and, as importantly, that the Allies did not want the Axis powers to obtain. It came to be known as the “warehouse war.” Clayton prosecuted it successfully and it was one of the keys to the Allies’ victory. As the war’s end came into view, the materials and equipment procured and produced—roughly $100 billion in value—had to be sold, mostly to the private sector. Clayton assumed the reins and presided over what his biographer called the “biggest garage sale in history.”

Clayton refused to accept pay for his services during the war. He did not seek a position; he was sought out. He was one of a cadre of successful industrialists and financiers whose talents were summoned in the war effort and who would ask nothing in return. Clayton wrote to a friend in 1943, “No doubt the war will end someday, but the battle of Washington, never. As you know, I came without any political ambitions and having acquired none during my three years stay, I can look these fellows in the eye and tell them where to go.” Will was not the only member of the Clayton household who wished to return home to Houston. His wife, Sue, despised Washington. A five-foot-tall firebrand, she was ill and felt deeply neglected as her husband’s work and travel seemed endless.

Clayton’s exit from the nation’s capital would not be that easy. He had acquired enormous stature during the war years. A correspondent named Alan Drury wrote of Clayton at that time that he was a “big, tall, well-built Texan in his 60s, with…a handsome rugged face, and the smoothest manner imaginable.” He had a prolific memory, and was able to call up abstruse statistics about exchange rates and budget figures on command. His voice was calm and even, and “whatever his views may be, [he] never hesitates to state them with complete frankness,” such that his replies always seemed highly agreeable to senators and congressmen, even if his views or recommendations were not. Roosevelt was not about to let Clayton return to the comfort of Texan living. He offered Clayton the position of undersecretary of state for Economic Affairs in the State Department, “in charge of all economic affairs” relating to foreign policy and postwar recovery, as the president’s cable read. Roosevelt knew whom to go to next. He duly cabled Sue: “I know that so far as [Will] is concerned, you are the real Commander-in-Chief, and I am writing to ask you to order him to remain here and undertake the task for which I am drafting him…P.S. Don’t relinquish your authority over him!” Sue relented, grudgingly.
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